
 

 

 
Via Facsimile and Certified Mail/Return Receipt Requested 

 
August 16, 2012 
 
Major General Merdith W.B. Temple 
Acting Commanding General and Acting Chief of Engineers 
U.S. Army ACOE of Engineers 
441 G Street NW 
Washington, DC 20314–1000 
Fax No: (202) 761-1683 
 
Ken Salazar, Secretary 
U.S. Department of the Interior 
1849 C Street NW 
Washington, DC 
Fax No: (202) 208-6956 
 
Rebecca M. Blank, Acting Secretary 
U.S. Department of Commerce 
1401 Constitution Ave, N.W. 
Herbert C. Hoover Bldg, Room 5838 
Washington, D.C. 20230 
Fax No: (202) 482-2308  
 
Re: Notice of Intent to Sue under the Endangered Species Act in Connection with 

Authorization of Nationwide Permits 
 
Dear Major General Temple, Secretary Salazar, and Acting Secretary Blank: 
 
On behalf of the Center for Biological Diversity (“Center”), we hereby notify you of the Center’s 
intent to initiate litigation in federal district court, 60 days from your receipt of this letter, to 
challenge the Army ACOE of Engineers’ (“ACOE”) reauthorization of 48 nationwide permits 
(“NWPs”), and authorization of two new NWPs, pursuant to the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 
1251-1387 (“CWA”), for violations of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531-1544 
(“ESA” or “Act”). 
 
As explained below, reauthorization of these NWPs, which became effective on March 19, 2012, 
occurred prior to completion of formal consultation with the National Marine Fisheries Service 
(“NMFS”) and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (“FWS”), as required by the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 
1536(a)(2), id. § 1536(d), and despite NMFS’s determination that ACOE did not – indeed, 
cannot – ensure that authorization of the NWPs will not jeopardize the continued existence of 
species listed as endangered or threatened, and will not destroy or adversely modify these 
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species’ critical habitat, as ACOE is required to ensure under Section 7(a)(2) and 7(d) of the 
ESA.  Id. §§ 1536(a)(2), 1536(d).   
 
ACOE has a long history of failing to ensure that listed species and habitats are adequately 
protected from the wide range of discharges of dredged or fill material that are authorized under 
the NWP program, as the agency cannot maintain even basic information about how many 
waters and wetlands are being impacted, or monitor these impacts consistently, and unlawfully 
delegates its duty to comply with Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA to prospective permittees.  
Throughout this history and up to the present day, ACOE has consistently taken positions that 
are indefensible legally as well as scientifically.  ACOE’s failure to complete programmatic 
consultation with both Services prior to reauthorization is only the latest chapter in this history.  
It is time for the agency to implement major reforms of the NWP program to ensure species do 
not go extinct as a result of the NWP program, and to suspend the NWP program until such time 
that it can implement the reforms necessary in order to do so. 
 
The Center and its members are injured by ACOE’ authorization of the NWPs for 2012-2017, 
which will directly, indirectly, and cumulatively impact tens of thousands of acres of 
jurisdictional wetlands, and likely substantially more, causing significant adverse effects on the 
waters of the United States and potentially dire consequences for the survival and recovery of the 
nation’s endangered and threatened wildlife, fish, and plants, and the critical habitats on which 
they depend.  ACOE has no mechanism(s) to collect even basic information that would allow it 
to know or reliably estimate how many activities authorized under the NWPs will directly, 
indirectly, or cumulatively affect endangered and threatened species, or critical habitat. 
 
Thus, as explained further below, ACOE reissued the NWPs in violation of Sections 7(a)(2) and 
7(d) of the ESA.  33 U.S.C. § 1344(e)(1); 16 U.S.C. §§ 1536(a)(2), 1536(d); 1538(a).  Unless 
these legal deficiencies are remedied within the next 60 days, the Center will enforce the ESA’s 
provisions in federal district court.1 
 
I. LEGAL BACKGROUND 

 
A. Section 404 Permitting under the Clean Water Act 

 
The Clean Water Act (“CWA”) seeks to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and 
biological integrity of the Nation’s waters” and prohibits the discharge of pollutants into waters 
of the United States unless expressly authorized.  33 U.S.C. §§1251(a); id. § 1311(a); id. § 1344.  
One such provision is Section 404 of the CWA, which requires a permit for the discharge of any 
dredged or fill material into waters of the United States.  33 U.S.C. § 1344; 33 C.F.R. § 323.3(a).  
“Waters of the United States” encompass wetlands.  33 C.F.R. §323.2(d); 33 C.F.R. 
§328.3(a), (b).   
 
ACOE is charged with issuing permits to dredge and fill wetlands pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1344 
and 33 C.F.R. § 323.6(a), and issues two main types of permits for dredge and fill activities: 

                                                 
1  This letter is provided pursuant to the citizen suit provision of the ESA, to the extent such 
notice is deemed necessary by a court.  See 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1); 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g). 
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individual permits and general permits.  See 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(g), (h).  Individual permits are 
issued on a case-by-case basis, and require public notice and comment.  33 U.S.C. § 1344(a).  
ACOE may issues general permits or nationwide permits (“NWPs”) “on a State, regional, or 
nationwide basis for any category of activities involving discharges of dredged or fill material if 
... the activities in such category are similar in nature ... and will have only minimal cumulative 
adverse effect on the environment.”  33 U.S.C. § 1344(e)(1); 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(g).  NWPs 
require no public notice and are “designed to regulate with little, if any, delay or paperwork 
certain activities having minimal impacts.”  33 C.F.R. § 330.1(b).   NWPs are authorized for five 
year terms.  Authorization of NWPs is an agency “action” within the meaning of the ESA, and 
requires ACOE’ compliance with the ESA.  Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Brownlee, 402 F. Supp. 2d 1 
(D.D.C. 2005). 
 

B. The Endangered Species Act 
 
The Endangered Species Act is the nation’s preeminent wildlife protection law, and is designed 
to conserve species listed as “endangered” and “threatened” and the ecosystems upon which they 
depend.  16 U.S.C. § 1531(b).  “Conservation” means “the use of all methods and procedures 
which are necessary to bring any endangered species or threatened species to the point at which 
the measures provided pursuant to this Act are no longer necessary.”  16 U.S.C. § 1532(3). 
 
The ESA vests primary responsibility for administering and enforcing the statute with the 
Secretaries of Commerce and Interior, who have delegated this responsibility to NMFS and 
FWS, respectively (the “Service” or “Services”).  50 C.F.R. § 402.01(b).  NMFS has primary 
responsibility for administering the ESA with regards to most marine species, while FWS has 
responsibility for terrestrial species. 
 
To achieve the ESA’s purposes, the Services are required to protect imperiled species by listing 
them as either “threatened” or “endangered” if they are facing the threat of extinction due to any 
one, or any combination, of five statutory factors.2  A species is “endangered” if it is “in danger 
of extinction throughout all or a significant portion of its range.”  16 U.S.C. § 1532(6).  A 
species is “threatened” if it is “likely to become an endangered species within the foreseeable 
future throughout all or a significant portion of its range.”  16 U.S.C. § 1532(20).3 
 

                                                 
2  The five “listing factors” are: 
 

(A) the present or threatened destruction, modification, or curtailment of its habitat or 
range; 

(B) over-utilization for commercial, recreation, scientific, or educational purposes; 
(C) disease or predation; 
(D) the inadequacy of existing regulatory mechanisms; or  
(E) other natural or manmade factors affecting its continued existence. 

 
16 U.S.C. § 1533(a)(1); 50 C.F.R. § 424.11(c). 
 
3  Species that are listed as endangered or threatened are known as “listed” species. 
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Listed species receive the substantive protections of the ESA, which include: (1) Section 
4(a)(3)(A)(i), which requires the Services to designate areas as “critical habitat” for the species, 
which are those areas that are “essential to the conservation of the species”, 16 U.S.C. §§ 
1532(5); id. § 1533(a)(3)(A)(i); (2) Section 4(f), which requires the Services to develop and 
implement a plan for the recovery of listed species, id. § 1533(f); (3) Section 7(a)(2), which 
requires all federal agencies to ensure that their actions are not likely to jeopardize the continued 
existence of listed species, or are not likely to destroy or adversely modify listed species’ critical 
habitat, id. § 1536(a)(2); and (4) Section 9, which prohibits the unlawful “take” of listed species.  
Id. § 1539(a).4 
 
Under Section 7(a)(2), each federal agency must “insure that any action authorized, funded, or 
carried out by such agency is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered 
species or threatened species or result in the destruction or adverse modification of [critical] 
habitat … .” 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).   
 
The ESA’s implementing regulations set forth a specific process, fulfillment of which is the only 
way to ensure that an action agency’s affirmative duties under Section 7(a)(2) are satisfied, and 
to provide for “incidental take” authorization pursuant to Section 7(b)(4)(iv) and 7(o)(2).  
Pursuant to this process, each federal agency must review its “actions” “at the earliest possible 
time” to determine whether an action may affect listed species or critical habitat.  50 C.F.R. § 
402.14.  If such a determination is made, formal consultation is required.  16 U.S.C. § 
1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(a).  The ESA’s implementing regulations broadly define an 
“action” to include “actions directly or indirectly causing modifications to the land, water, or 
air.”  50 C.F.R. § 402.02 (emphasis added).  The “action area” means “all areas to be affected 
directly or indirectly by the Federal action and not merely the immediate area involved in the 
action.”  Id. 
 
Formal consultation is a process between the federal agency proposing to take an action (the 
“action agency”) and the Services.  Formal consultation commences with the action agency’s 
written request for consultation and concludes with the Service’s issuance of a “biological 
opinion” (also, “BiOp”), which considers the “effects of the action” – i.e., its direct and indirect 
effects, together with the “environmental baseline” and “interrelated or interdependent” actions – 
together with the “cumulative effects”.  50 C.F.R. § 402.  The BiOp explains “how the proposed 
action will affect the species or its habitat” and “states the opinion” of the Service as to whether 
the action is “likely to jeopardize the continued existence of listed species” or “result in the 

                                                 
4  “Take” under Section 9 is broadly defined to include harassing, harming, pursuing, wounding 
or killing such species.  16 U.S.C. § 1532(19).  “Take” includes direct as well as indirect harm 
and need not be purposeful.  Id. at 704; see also Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Burlington No. R.R., 23 
F.3d 1508, 1512 (9th Cir. 1994).  Persons who knowingly carry out these activities are liable for 
take and subject to civil and criminal penalties, including imprisonment.  Bennett v. Spear, 520 
U.S. 154, 170 (1997) (“‘any person’ who knowingly ‘takes’ an endangered or threatened species 
is subject to substantial civil and criminal penalties, including imprisonment”) (citing 16 U.S.C. 
§§ 1540(a), (b) (authorizing civil fines of up to $25,000 per violation and criminal penalties of up 
to $50,000 and imprisonment for one year). 
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destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat.”  16 U.S.C. § 1536(c)(1); 50 C.F.R. § 
402.12(c).  The Services define “jeopardize” to mean “engage in an action that reasonably would 
be expected, directly or indirectly, to reduce appreciably the likelihood of both the survival and 
recovery of a listed species in the wild by reducing the reproduction, numbers, or distribution of 
that species.”  50 C.F.R. § 402.02.  “Destruction or adverse modification” means “a direct or 
indirect alteration that appreciably diminishes the value of critical habitat for both the survival 
and recovery of a listed species.”  Id.  Courts have concluded that these regulations require the 
Services to consider both recovery and survival impacts to listed species and critical habitat.  
Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Nat’l Marine Fisheries Serv., 524 F.3d 917, 931 (9th Cir. 2008); Gifford 
Pinchot Task Force v. U.S. Forest Serv., 378 F.3d 1059 (9th Cir. 2007).  In developing a BiOp, 
the Service must rely on the best scientific and commercial data available.  Id. § 1536(a)(2).   
 
If a Service concludes that the proposed action will result in jeopardy or adverse habitat 
modification, it must “suggest those reasonable and prudent alternatives which [it] believes 
would not violate … [Section 7(a)(2)] and can be taken by the Federal agency … in 
implementing the agency action.”  Id.  “Reasonable and prudent alternatives” are “alternative 
actions identified during formal consultation (1) that can be implemented in a manner consistent 
with the intended purpose of the action, (2) that can be implemented consistent with the scope of 
the Federal agency’s legal authority and jurisdiction, (3) that is economically and technologically 
feasible, and (4) that the [Service] believes would avoid the likelihood of jeopardizing the 
continued existence of listed species or resulting in the destruction or adverse modification of 
critical habitat.”  50 C.F.R. § 402.02.  When a Service concludes that an action will jeopardize a 
species, or destroy or adversely modify critical habitat, and suggests a reasonable and prudent 
alternative, the action agency must “either terminate the action, implement the proposed 
alternative, or seek an exemption from the Cabinet-level Endangered Species Committee 
pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1536(e).”  Nat'l Ass'n of Home Builders v. Defenders of Wildlife, 551 
U.S. 644, 652 (2007). 
 
ESA regulations provide that “any request for formal consultation may encompass ... a number 
of similar individual actions within a given geographical area” or “a segment of a comprehensive 
plan.”  50 C.F.R. § 402.14(c).  However broad the agency action under consideration, the Service 
must consider its effects “as a whole.”  Id.; Lane County Audubon v. Jamison, 958 F.2d 290, 294 
(9th Cir. 1992) (programmatic timber management strategy was an “action” under 50 C.F.R. § 
402.02 that “may affect” the spotted owl).  Authorization of NWPs is a “programmatic” action 
under the ESA for which ACOE must comply with Section 7 of the ESA.  See, e.g., NWF v. 
Brownlee, 402 F.Supp.2d at 10 (“overall consultation for the NWPs is necessary to avoid piece-
meal destruction of … habitat through failure to make a cumulative analysis of the program as a 
whole”).     
 
Section 7(d) of the ESA provides: 
 

After initiation of consultation required under subsection (a)(2) of this section, the 
Federal agency and the permit or license applicant shall not make any irreversible or 
irretrievable commitment of resources with respect to the agency action which has the 
effect of foreclosing the formulation or implementation of any reasonable and prudent 
alternative measures which would not violate subsection( a)(2) of this section. 
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16 U.S.C. § 1536(d); 50 C.F.R. § 402.09.  Congress enacted Section 7(d) “to prevent Federal 
agencies from ‘steamrolling’ activity in order to secure completion of the projects regardless of 
their impact on endangered species.”  Pacific Rivers Council v. Thomas, 936 F.Supp. 738, 745 
(D. Idaho 1996) (quoting N. Slope Borough v. Andrus, 486 F.Supp. 332, 356 (D.D.C. 1980), 
aff’d in part and reversed in part on other grounds, 642 F.2d 589 (D.C. Cir. 1980)).  Section 7(d) 
thus “clarifies the requirements” of Section 7(a)(2) in order to “ensur[e] that the status quo will 
be maintained during the consultation process.”  Conner v. Burford, 836 F.2d 1521, 1536 & n.34 
(9th Cir. 1988); see also Sw. Ctr. for Biological Diversity v. Babbitt, 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
22477 (D. Ariz. Sep. 22, 2000) (“the purpose of Section 7(d) is to ‘ensure that the quo will be 
maintained during the consultation process’”) (quoting Conner v. Burford, 848 F.2d 1441, 1455 
(9th Cir. 1986)). 
 
II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
 
The nation’s waters and wetlands provide critical ecosystem services to aquatic systems and 
provide important habitats to many species, including endangered and threatened birds, fish, and 
plants as well as organisms on the lower rungs of the food chain.  The Clean Water Act and 
Endangered Species Act work together to protect the nation’s wetlands, clean water, species, and 
habitat. 
 
Unfortunately, however, ACOE – which is entrusted with regulating discharges of dredged or fill 
material to waters of the United States impacting wetlands under the Clean Water Act – has 
consistently failed to ensure that activities it authorizes pursuant to NWPs do not jeopardize the 
continued existence of endangered and threatened species, and the habitats on which they depend 
for survival and recovery. 
 
For many years, ACOE did not conduct programmatic ESA consultation to consider the effects 
of authorization of NWPs at all.  In 2005, the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia 
held that this was a violation of Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA, NWF v. Brownlee, 402 F.Supp.2d at 
11, and the NWPs were remanded to ACOE.  Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Brownlee, Civ. No. 03-
01392, Slip Op. (D.D.C. Aug. 25, 2005) (JR).  
 
On March 13, 2007, ACOE reinitiated programmatic ESA Section 7(a)(2) consultation with 
NMFS and FWS regarding the effects of the NWPs to species under the Services’ respective 
jurisdictions.  77 Fed. Reg. at 10,187.  FWS never produced a biological opinion for the 2007 
NWP reauthorization.  NMFS produced a draft, but not a final, biological opinion, and 
programmatic consultation between ACOE and NMFS was delayed multiple times before ACOE 
began to reauthorize its NWPs for a new five-year term.  76 Fed. Reg. 9174 (Feb. 16, 2011) (“we 
are beginning the process for reissuing the NWPs so that the reissued NWPs will be in effect as 
the current NWPs expire”); id. at 9176-77 (describing uncompleted 2007 programmatic 
consultation).5  On February 21, 2012, ACOE finalized authorization of 48 of 49 existing and 

                                                 
5  When it commenced NWP reauthorization on February 16, 2011, ACOE stated that it had, at 
that time, “reinitiated” programmatic Section 7 consultation for the NWP program when it 
proposed the 2012 NWPs.  Id. at 9176-77 (“Since the 2007 programmatic consultation was not 
completed, ACOE has reinitiated programmatic Section 7 consultation for the NWP program.”).  



                    

7 
 

two new NWPs with some modifications (NWP 21, for surface coal mining activities, and NWP 
48, for commercial shellfish aquaculture), and general conditions.  
 
The NWPs authorize activities with a wide range of impacts to the nation’s waters and wetlands, 
including from, among other activities: exploration, production, and transportation of oil, gas, 
and minerals on the outer continental shelf (NWP 8); utility lines (including power lines, 
substations, and pipelines) (NWP 12); transportation projects (NWP 14); bridges (NWP 15); 
hydropower projects (NWP 17); coal mining activities (including activities associated with 
mountaintop removal) (NWP 21, NWP 49, NWP 50); other mining (NWP 44); and shellfish 
aquaculture (NWP 48).  Some NWP activities require “pre-construction notification” (“PCN”) to 
ACOE, but ACOE does not provide public notice of PCNs.  Eighteen NWPs allow activities to 
proceed without any notification to ACOE, assuming they conform to the terms and conditions 
that apply to NWPs. 
 
NMFS produced a programmatic biological opinion, dated February 15, 2012 – a few days prior 
to the NWP reauthorization – which concluded that: 
 

The [ACOE] has not structured the proposed Nationwide Permits in a manner that insures 
that the direct, indirect, or cumulative effects of activities that would authorized … are 
not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of endangered and threatened species 
under NMFS’ jurisdiction or result in the destruction or adverse modification of critical 
habitat … .  We have worked with [ACOE] staff to develop reasonable and prudent 
alternatives that would insure that those activities comply with the requirements of 
section 7(a)(2) of the ESA. 

 
Letter from James H. Lecky, Director, Office of Protected Resources, NMFS to Michael G. 
Ensch, ACOE (Feb. 15, 2012) at 1.  NMFS concluded that ACOE has failed to “insure” no 
jeopardy or destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat because ACOE lacks basic 
information about the effects of activities authorized under NWPs that would enable it to ensure 
that such activities do not put species at risk.  NMFS found that ACOE has not structured its 
NWP program “to know or reliably estimate the general and particular effects of the activities 
that would be authorized”, the effect of those activities on water quality or listed species, or to 

                                                                                                                                                             
However, in fact consultation with NMFS was not initiated until many months later, on June 7, 
2011.  See NMFS, Endangered Species Consultation, Biological Opinion on U.S. Army ACOE of 
Engineers’ Nationwide Permit Program (Feb. 2012) (“NMFS BiOp”) at 2 (describing NMFS’s 
requests for information, and stating that “[f]ormal consultation was initiated on 7 June 2011”); 
see also 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(c) (describing process for initiating consultation, which begins when 
the action agency submits a “written request” to the Service along with a description of the 
action, action area, listed species or critical habitat that may be affected, an analysis of 
cumulative effects, relevant reports, and any other relevant information”); id. at § 402.14(a) 
(“Each Federal agency shall review its actions at the earliest possible time to determine whether 
any action may affect listed species or critical habitat.”).  Formal consultation with FWS was 
never commenced at all. 
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take action necessary to prevent direct or cumulative degradation of water quality and habitat.  
Id. at 223. 
 
Accordingly, NMFS developed a RPA with the BiOp, which requires ACOE to undertake 
significant reforms.  The RPA consists of many elements which require ACOE to collect basic 
information to allow it to know or reliably estimate how many activities may affect listed species 
or critical habitat, where the activities occur, their impacts, and whether a permittee complied 
with any general conditions; formally consult with the Services; “assemble a picture of the 
individual and cumulative impacts” of individual activities authorized under NWPs in 
watersheds that overlap with the distribution of listed species under NMFS’s jurisdiction; and 
other measures.  Id. at 224-25.  NMFS instructed ACOE to “notify [NMFS’ Office of Protected 
Resources] of its final decision on implementation of the [RPA]”, but this never occurred.  Id. at 
231. 
 
In a pro forma notice published on February 21, 2012, ACOE reauthorized the NWPs, ignoring 
these findings or even the existence of NMFS’s BiOp and RPA, and without any programmatic 
ESA consultation regarding the impacts of the NWP program to species under FWS’s 
jurisdiction at all.  77 Fed. Reg. 10,184 (Feb. 21, 2012).  ACOE has not implemented the RPA. 
 
The NWPs took effect on March 19, 2012.  According to NMFS, activities under 21 NWPs 
likely to have the greatest influence on listed resources under NMFS’ jurisdiction, id. at 163 
(Table 5.3), will result in over 43,000 activities every year, or about 217,000 activities over five 
years, resulting in a loss of nearly 26,000 acres of jurisdictional wetlands and other waters of the 
United States by 2017 – i.e., an area that is, when combined with the nearly 140,000 acres 
already impacted by NWPs since 1982, “sufficiently large to make cumulative impacts certain.”  
Id. at 178.    
 
NWPs have had “ecologically significant adverse consequences for listed species.”  Id. at 193.  
Many highly-endangered species that depend on the nation’s waterways and wetlands for their 
survival are in the path of development and impacted by the activities authorized under the 
Nationwide Permit program.  These include fish like coho salmon and steelhead, amphibians like 
California red-legged frog, and birds like the California black rail and southwestern willow 
flycatcher.  In other areas of the country, bull trout, red wolves, Florida panthers, and Kemp’s 
ridley, leatherback, and loggerhead sea turtles will be impacted as well.6  And although the 
number of activities, taken together, cause impacts from many incremental effects, ACOE “does 
not appear to be in a position to know or reliably estimate the cumulative impacts of these 
activities” or to “determine whether or to what degree the two conditions protect endangered and 
threatened species from those cumulative impacts.”  Id. at 194.   
 

                                                 
6  As just one example where data was available, NMFS noted that 527 loggerhead sea turtles, 28 
Kemp’s ridley sea turtles, and seven leatherback sea turtles died as a result of capture in pound 
net fisheries in Chesapeake Bay as a result of the placement, pursuant to NWP 4, of several 
harvesting devices that are known to capture or kill listed species.  Id. at 193.  NWP 4 will 
authorize about 35,748 activities, impacting about 84 acres, from 2012 to 2017.  Id. 
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III. VIOLATIONS OF THE ESA 
 
ACOE is in violation of Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA for its failure to ensure that its authorization 
of the NWPs, 77 Fed. Reg. 10,184 (Feb. 21, 2012), will not jeopardize the continued existence of 
endangered and threatened species, or destroy or adversely modify critical habitat.  For species 
under FWS’s jurisdiction, programmatic Section 7(a)(2) consultation was required, but was not 
completed prior to NWP reauthorization.  For species under NMFS’s jurisdiction, programmatic 
consultation resulted in a BiOp which concluded that ACOE has failed to comply with its 
obligations under Section 7(a)(2).  Although NMFS developed an RPA, this RPA has not been 
implemented, putting listed species at risk.  Moreover, ACOE has not even committed to adhere 
to the RPA. 
 
By failing to insure no jeopardy or destruction or adverse modification, in accordance with 
Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA, for all listed species and their habitats, and by failing conform the 
NWP program to the RPA, ACOE is also in violation of Section 7(d) of the ESA.  For a 
programmatic consultation to have any legal or practical effect, it must be completed prior to 
authorization of the NWPs, and any RPA adopted prior to NWP reauthorization, because NWP 
reauthorization “sets legally binding procedures by which dredge-and-fill actions may now take 
place … .”  NWF v. Brownlee, 402 F.Supp.2d at 7; see also, e.g., Jamison, 958 F.2d at 295 
(finding that timber sales are “irreversible or irretrievable commitment of resources” pursuant to 
ESA §7(d) and enjoining timber sales pending completion of programmatic ESA consultation); 
see also Pacific Rivers Council v. Thomas, 30 F.3d 1050 (9th Cir. 1994) (“timber sales constitute 
per se irreversible and irretrievable commitments of resources under section 7(d) and cannot go 
forward during the consultation period”).  ACOE has eliminated its opportunity to maintain the 
environmental “status quo” by reauthorizing the NWPs, which will result in tens of thousands of 
discharges every year and incremental losses of the nation’s waters and wetlands.  As a result, 
“all that remains is the limited ability to make the path chosen as palatable as possible.”  Natural 
Resources Defense Council v. Houston, 146 F.3d 1118, 1129 (9th Cir. 2003).  This is 
unacceptable under the ESA. 
 
IV. CONCLUSION 
 
As explained above, ACOE is in violation of the ESA as a result of its failure to insure that the 
NWP program will not jeopardize the continued existence of any listed species, or result in the 
destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat.  ACOE’s NWP program constitutes 
violations of Section 7(a)(2) and Section 7(d) of the ESA. 
 
If ACOE does not act to correct the violations described in this letter, the Center will pursue 
litigation against ACOE in U.S. District Court in 60 days from your receipt of this notice.  The 
Center will seek injunctive and declaratory relief, and legal fees and costs regarding these 
violations.  An appropriate remedy that would prevent litigation would be for ACOE to 
immediately cease its NWP program until it can insure that the discharges permitted under the 
program will not jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered or threatened species, and 
will not destroy or adversely modify any critical habitat for such species, in consultation with 
and with the assistance of NMFS and FWS and in accordance with any RPA. 
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If you have any questions, wish to discuss this matter, or feel this notice is in error, please 
contact the undersigned representatives of the Center on this matter.  Thank you. 
 

 
Sincerely, 

 
 

 
Miyoko Sakashita    D. Noah Greenwald 
Oceans Director     Endangered Species Director 
 
Center for Biological Diversity  Amy R. Atwood, Senior Attorney, 
351 California Street, Suite 600  Endangered Species Program 
San Francisco, CA      

Deirdre McDonnell, Senior Attorney, Oceans 
Program 

 
Center for Biological Diversity  
P.O. Box 11374 
Portland, OR 97211-0374 
(503) 283-5474 

 
 
 
 
 


